

04/26/2024 0522-04 23-MED-09-0849 44196

AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF BROOKLYN

AND

LABORERS' LOCAL 860 a/w LABORERS' INTERNATIONAL UNION OF NORTH AMERICA

SERB Case No.: 2023-MED-09-0849

Effective January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Article 1	Purpose	2
Article 2	Union Recognition	2
Article 3	Management Rights	
Article 4	Bargaining Unit Application of Civil Service Law	
Article 5	Union Rights	
Article 6	No Strike/No Lockout	
Article 7	Limited Right to Strike	
Article 8	Non-Discrimination	
Article 9	Union Security	
Article 10	Stewards and Union Representation	
Article 11	Probationary Period	
Article 12	Seniority	7
Article 13	Exercise of Seniority Right	
Article 14	Leaves of Absence	
Article 15	Sick Leave Without Pay	
Article 16	Sick Leave With Pay	
Article 17	Uniform Allowance	
Article 18	Hours of Work	
Article 19	Overtime and Equalization of Overtime	
Article 20	Call In Pay	
Article 21	Health Coverage & Insurance	
Article 22	Paid Holidays	
Article 23	Longevity	
Article 24	Vacation	
Article 25	Mileage	19
Article 26	Discipline	19
Article 27	Grievance Procedure and Arbitration	20
Article 28	Personnel Record	
Article 29	Compensation	
Article 30	Job Bidding	
Article 31	Productive Work by Non-Bargaining Unit Employees	26
Article 32	Safety Committee; Safety and Health	26
Article 33	Labor-Management Committee	
Article 34	Miscellaneous	28
Article 35	Injury Leave - On-Duty Injury	29
Article 36	Rules and Regulations	30
Article 37	Savings Clause	
Article 38	Duration of Agreement	
	Execution	31
Appendix A	Wage Schedule	
Appendix B		

ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE

<u>Section 1</u>. This contract sets forth a complete agreement between the City of Brooklyn (hereinafter referred to as the "City" and the Laborers' Local 860 a/w Laborers' International Union of North America (hereinafter referred to as the "Union"), which represents employees as specified herein. Specifically, the agreement addresses all matters pertaining to wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment mutually expressed between the parties.

<u>Section 2</u>. The male pronoun or adjective where used herein refers to the female also unless otherwise indicated. The term "employee" or "employees" where used herein refers to all employees in the bargaining unit. The purpose of this contract is to provide a fair and reasonable method of enabling employees covered by this contract to participate, through union representation, in the establishment of the terms and conditions of their employment and to establish a peaceful procedure for the resolution of contract differences between the parties.

ARTICLE 2 UNION RECOGNITION

<u>Section 1.Recognition</u>. The City recognizes the Laborers' Local 860 a/w Laborers' International Union of North America as the exclusive bargaining representative of all hourly rated employees in the Service Department and the Recreation Department (also known as "Ice Rink") of the City and other hourly rated employees classified herein, but excluding part-time, temporary, and seasonal employees.

Classifications:

- Assistant Manager
- 2. Foreman
- 3. Foreman/Mechanic
- 4. Garage Mechanic
- Skilled Laborer/Dispatcher-Recycle Coordinator
- Equipment Operator
- 7. Driver
- Laborer
- 9. Helper (Full-Time)
- 10. Aquatics Coordinator
- 11. Maintenance Personnel (Recreation Center)
- 12. Night Shift Lead Man (Service Garage)
- 13. Custodian
- Recycler (Full-Time)

<u>Section 2.New Job Classification</u>. Whenever possible, the City shall assign work to employees in job classifications that are in existence when the work is to be performed. Whenever the City does create or establish any new job classifications of non-certificated personnel, the City shall send written notification of such action to the Union. In its notification, the City shall describe the work to be performed by this classification and the Union will have the same opportunity as all

other unions to include said employees in its bargaining unit. If the City creates or establishes any new job classification in which the employees perform work substantially similar to the work being performed by employees then represented by the Union, the employees in the newly created or established job classification shall be represented by the Union, beginning with the first day of employment of any such employees. The full terms and conditions of this Agreement shall apply to those employees as of the first day of their employment, except that the City and the Union shall meet immediately after the Union is informed that the City has created or established such new job classification to confer in good faith on the rate of pay to be received by said employee(s). The City's establishment of the rate shall, for the duration of the then-current collective bargaining agreement (including periods during which the agreement is extended), not be subject to grievance, appeal or other action by the union.

ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1. Not by way of limitation of the following paragraph, but to only indicate the type of matters or rights which belong to and are inherent to the Employer, the Employer retains the right to: (1) hire, discharge, transfer, suspend, and discipline employees for just cause; (2) determine the number of persons to be employed or laid off; (3) determine the qualifications of employees covered by the agreement; (4) determine the overall methods, process, means or personnel by which governmental operations are to be conducted; (5) make any and all rules and regulations; (6) determine the work assignments of its employees; (7) determine the basis for selections, retention, and promotion of employees to or for positions not within the bargaining unit established by this agreement; (8) determine the type of equipment used and the sequence of work processed; (9) determine the making of technological alterations by revising either process or equipment or both; (10) determine work standards and the quality and quantity of work to be produced; (11) select and locate buildings and other facilities; (12) establish, expand, transfer, and/or consolidate work processes and facilities; (13) transfer or subcontract work; (14) consolidate, merge, or otherwise transfer any or all of its facilities, property, processes or work with or to any municipality or entity or effect or change in any respect the legal status, management, or responsibility of such property, facilities, processes of work; (15) terminate or eliminate all or any part of its work or facilities.

<u>Section 2</u>. In addition, the Union agrees that all of the functions, rights, powers, responsibilities and authority of the Employer in regard to the operation of its work and business and the direction of its work force which the Employer has not specifically abridged, deleted, granted, or modified by the express and specific written provisions of this agreement are, and shall remain, exclusively those of the Employer.

<u>Section 3</u>. <u>Transfer of Employees</u>. Unless otherwise specified in this contract, when it is decided by management that a transfer of an employee is in the best interest and benefit to the City, the least senior qualified employee will be transferred unless a more qualified senior employee requests to be transferred to fill the opening.

<u>Section 4</u>. At least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to exercising its right to subcontract or privatize work performed exclusively by the bargaining unit, the Employer will notify the Union

in writing. The parties will meet and confer within fifteen (15) calendar days of that notice and the Union may submit alternatives to privatization. At least three (3) days prior to such meeting, the Employer will provide information relevant to such subcontracting or privatization pursuant to a request from the Union. The Employer will review any alternatives presented by the Union.

The City may not allow non-bargaining unit member volunteers to perform bargaining unit work except as it has in the past.

ARTICLE 4 BARGAINING UNIT APPLICATION OF CIVIL SERVICE LAW

<u>Section 1</u>. The parties agree that no section of the Civil Service Laws contained in Section 9.44 or Chapter 124 of the Ohio Revised Code, nor any related provisions of the Ohio Administrative Code, nor any civil service rules adopted by the City (i.e., any statutory provisions, administrative rules, or civil service rules addressing the subject matter of any provision of this agreement, including but not limited to layoff, job abolishment, recall, sick leave, holidays, vacation, etc.), nor any local City ordinances pertaining to wages, hours, terms or other conditions of employment, shall apply to bargaining unit employees, where such subject matter has been addressed by this agreement.

Notwithstanding the above, Sections 124.34 (A) relative to convictions of a felony and 124.57 ORC shall continue to apply to bargaining unit employees.

Section 2. Notwithstanding Section 1 above, the parties agree that the conduct and grading of civil service examinations (as related to the City of Brooklyn Civil Service Commission), the establishment of eligible lists from examinations, and the original new hire appointments shall continue to be governed by City Charter, local statutes, ordinances, and the Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations of the City of Brooklyn, as may be applicable. Additionally, classified or unclassified status shall continue to be the determination of the City consistent with 124.11 ORC and/or City Charter, local statutes, and/or ordinances.

ARTICLE 5 UNION RIGHTS

It shall not be a violation of this contract nor a cause for discipline if any employee refuses to enter upon any property involved in a primary labor dispute or refuses to go through or work behind any lawful primary picket line, or refuses to do work customarily performed by primary striking members of another union which has a contract with the City, except that the City shall not be required to pay the wages of any such employee.

ARTICLE 6 NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

<u>Section 1</u>. In conformance with Ohio Revised Code Section 4117 et. seq., the City and the Union agree that the grievance procedures provided herein are adequate to provide a fair and final determination of all grievances arising under this contract. It is the desire of the City and the Union

to avoid work stoppages and strikes. Accordingly, neither the Union nor any member of the bargaining unit shall directly or indirectly call, sanction, encourage, finance, participate or assist in any way in any strike, slowdown, walkout, concerted "sick leave" or mass resignation, work stoppage, or slowdown, picketing, or interference in any other manner with the normal operations of the City for the duration of this contract. Any disciplinary action taken as a result of a breach of this section is subject to the grievance procedure up to arbitration.

<u>Section 2.Union Cooperation</u>. The Union shall at all times cooperate with the City in continuing operations in a normal manner and shall actively discourage and attempt to prevent any violation of the "no-strike" clause.

In the event of a violation of the "no strike" clause, the Union shall promptly notify all employees in a reasonable manner that the strike, work stoppage or slowdown, picketing, or other interference with normal operations of the City is in violation of this contract, unlawful, and not sanctioned or approved by the Union. The Union shall advise the employees to return to work immediately.

Section 3.Lockout. The City shall not lock out any employees for the duration of this contract.

ARTICLE 7 LIMITED RIGHT TO STRIKE

Upon or after expiration or termination of this contract or any extensions, and exhaustion of the dispute settlement procedures, employees have the right to strike under Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code provided that the employee organization representing the employees has given a ten (10) day prior written notice of an intent to strike to the public employer and to the Board; however, the Board, at its discretion, may attempt mediation at any time.

ARTICLE 8 NON-DISCRIMINATION

<u>Section 1</u>. Both the City and the Union recognize their respective responsibilities under federal and state civil rights laws and fair employment practice laws. Neither the City nor the Union will unlawfully discriminate in the interpretation or application of this contract on the basis of race, age, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, gender/sex (including gender identity and expression, if recognized as sex discrimination under federal or state law), disability, military status, union activities, genetic history or any other protected classification recognized by federal or state law.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Gender Neutral</u>. The use of the male gender in certain clauses of this Contract is done for convenience purposes and does not imply any preference to male or female employee.

ARTICLE 9 UNION SECURITY

<u>Section 1</u>. All bargaining unit employees who are members of the Union on the date this Agreement is signed and all other employees in the bargaining unit who become members of the Union at any time in the future are required to pay dues, initiation fees and other fees required by

the Union, its Constitution or Bylaws to maintain membership in good standing. All bargaining unit employees who do not become or elect not to become members of the Union may voluntarily consent to pay to the Union through payroll deduction, a fair share fee as a contribution toward the administration of this Agreement. An employee is not required to pay fair share fees unless he or she voluntarily consents to do so.

<u>Section 2</u>. The City will deduct regular initiation fees and monthly dues from the pay of employees in the bargaining unit covered by this contract upon receipt from the Union of individual written authorization cards voluntarily executed by an employee for that purpose and bearing his or her signature, provided that:

- An employee shall have the right to revoke such authorization by giving written notice to the City and the Union within thirty (30) days of the termination of this contract. Said employee shall automatically be placed under the fair share provisions of this provision.
- The City's obligation to make deductions shall terminate automatically upon timely receipt
 of revocation of authorization or upon termination of employment or transfer to a job
 classification outside the bargaining unit.

<u>Section 3</u>. All deductions shall be made during the first pay period of each month, but if an employee's pay for that period is insufficient to cover Union dues, the City will make a deduction from the pay earned during the next pay period.

<u>Section 4</u>. All deductions accompanied by an alphabetical list of all employees for whom deductions have been made shall be transmitted to the Union no later than the fifteenth following the end of the pay period in which the deduction is made, and upon receipt, the Union shall assume full responsibility for the dispositions of all funds deducted.

<u>Section 5</u>. The City shall place back on the list described in Section 4 those employees who return to the active payroll from a leave of absence, layoff, suspension, or who are transferred back into the bargaining unit.

<u>Section 6.</u> When the City deducts the incorrect amount of dues or fees from an Employee's paycheck, the City shall, upon receipt of written notification of the mistake, correct the error as soon as reasonably practicable, but no later than the next payroll period.

<u>Section 7</u>. The City and the Union agree that if any legal challenge is made to City action under the terms of this article, that both parties will defend its validity until there is a final judgment of the highest court or tribunal to which the matter may be pursued. The Union agrees that its counsel will be the lead counsel during any such litigation and the City agrees that its counsel will fully cooperate in such litigation.

The Union represents to the City that it will comply with Section 4117.09(C) of the Ohio Revised Code.

ARTICLE 10

STEWARDS AND UNION REPRESENTATION

<u>Section 1.Stewards</u>. The City recognizes the right of the Union and employees to select stewards to aid in the enforcement of this contract and to represent an employee, on request, in grievance meetings concerning the interpretation and application of this contract. The Union may designate up to three (3) stewards and shall notify the City in writing of the name of the designated stewards and of any changes thereto.

Section 2. Stewards shall be permitted to investigate, process grievances, represent employees in predisciplinary conferences and investigatory interviews, and handle other related union business during normal working hours. The Union recognizes the operational needs of the City and will cooperate to keep to a minimum the time lost from work in processing grievances by stewards. Before leaving his or her assignment pursuant to this section, the steward will notify his or her immediate supervisor and if necessary wait a reasonable length of time for a replacement. The City will compensate a steward his or her normal rate for the time spent in the good faith processing of grievances or on other related union business, but only for such time expended during normal working hours.

<u>Section 3</u>. Upon due notice to the Service Director or his or her representative, one or more staff representatives of the Union shall be permitted to enter the City's premises or any work site during work hours, provided that such visitation does not unduly interfere with the work requirements of any employee or disrupt operations in any way.

ARTICLE 11 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Newly hired employees shall be on probation one (1) year and shall not acquire seniority until one (1) year after their date of hire. During the probationary period, new employees shall have only those rights specifically provided under this contract. If a probationary employee is discharged, only claims of discrimination may be taken up as a grievance. After the probationary period, an employee's seniority date will be his or her full-time date of hire.

ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY

<u>Section 1.Definition</u>. Seniority shall be an employee's uninterrupted length of continuous service with the City in a job classification governed by this contract. Length of service shall be computed from the last date of hire.

Section 2.Break in Seniority. Seniority shall be broken only when an employee:

- is discharged for just cause;
- B. quits or resigns;

- C. is laid off for a period of more than eighteen (18) months, except that employees with less than eighteen (18) months seniority shall have recall rights only for the same number of months as their seniority;
- D. fails to report to work or notify of intent to return when recalled from layoff within ten (10) working days after issuance of notice sent to him or her by registered or certified mail to the last known address as shown on City records;
- E. is absent without leave for two (2) or more consecutive days, unless proper excuse for the absence is shown; is absent without notice to the City on three (3) or more occasions in one calendar year; or overstays a leave of absence or engages in other employment during a leave of absence.

<u>Section 3.Part-Time Employees</u>. Part-time, temporary, or seasonal employees have no seniority rights. The City may not use part-time employees except as it has in the past. Under no circumstances will the City employ part-time employees to perform bargaining unit work of a full-time bargaining unit employee who is on layoff and subject to recall.

<u>Section 4.Seniority List</u>. The City will maintain and make available to the Union an accurate seniority list, which shall include the date of hire, classification, and rate of pay of each employee covered by this contract.

<u>Section 5</u>. Employees accepting management positions shall maintain and accrue seniority during such appointments. Such employee shall have reverting rights to his or her prior position.

ARTICLE 13 EXERCISE OF SENIORITY RIGHT

<u>Section 1</u>. It is the intent of the parties, through this article, to establish the procedure by which a reduction in force, job abolishment, and recall shall be accomplished, should the need arise, and to specifically supersede the provisions of ORC 124.06, 124.321 through 124.328, OAC 123: 1-41-01 through 123: 1-41-22, 124-7-01 OAC, and all local rules and regulations of the City of Brooklyn Civil Service Commission governing work force reductions, job abolishment, or recall.

<u>Section 2.Layoff.</u> Whenever it becomes necessary because of lack of work or lack of funds, or, whenever it is advisable in the interests of economy or efficiency to reduce the working force of the Service Department or Ice Rink, a reduction in force shall occur in accordance with this article (i.e., layoff or job abolishment.) The employee with the lowest amount of seniority within the classification(s) affected shall be first laid off.

The Employer shall notify affected employees in writing at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the date of the layoff or abolishment. The Employer and the Union shall meet, upon the written request of either party, to discuss possible alternatives.

In accordance with this article, the City will lay off employees performing bargaining unit work in the following order:

Temporary employees; Seasonal employees; Regular part-time employees; Regular full-time employees.

At least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to sending the layoff notices required by this Section, the Employer will notify the Union in writing of the potential for layoffs. The parties will meet and confer within fourteen (14) days of that notice and discuss alternatives to layoffs. At least three (3) days prior to such meeting, the Employer will provide information relevant to such layoffs pursuant to a request from the Union. The Employer will review any alternatives presented by the Union.

Section 3. Bumping Rights. Any employee receiving notice of layoff shall have seven (7) calendar days following receipt of notice in which to exercise his or her right to displace ("bump") a less senior employee in a lower classification within the bargaining unit. An employee whose job is closed down for any reason enumerated in Section 2 above may exercise his or her seniority in the next lower classification provided the employee is qualified to perform the job. If an employee is not eligible or qualified to bump into the next lower classification, he or she may exercise his or her seniority right in any other lower classification where he or she is eligible and qualified. Lower classification shall mean a classification with a lower base rate of pay.

<u>Section 4. Rate of Pay.</u> When an employee exercises his or her bumping rights, he or she will be paid the rate of pay for the classification he or she bumps into.

<u>Section 5. Prohibition on Hiring</u>. No new employees shall be hired into any classification while former employees on the current seniority list with adequate skill, ability, and physical fitness to do and perform the work, and who have been laid off, are willing and available to accept the job available.

<u>Section 6.Return Rights</u>. The employee with the greatest amount of seniority within a classification who has bumped into a lower classification shall be entitled to his or her former classification whenever a vacancy in that classification occurs.

Section 7.Recall. Employees shall be recalled in the reverse order of layoff. If an employee on layoff is unqualified or unable to perform the job available, the next most senior employee will be recalled. A laid off employee unable to qualify for recall will retain his or her position on the recall list for the next available opening; provided, however, nothing in this contract will prevent the City from employing temporary employees while a recall is being effectuated. (Temporary employee shall be defined as an employee who works no more than thirty (30) days at any one time.)

Employees shall be given fourteen (14) calendar days advance notice of recall and such notice shall be sent to the employee's last address on record. It shall be the responsibility of the employee(s) to keep the Employer advised of his or her current address and maintain any required licensure or certification required for his or her position. Employees who refuse recall shall lose

all seniority and recall rights. Employees who fail to remain qualified to perform the duties of their position will lose all seniority and recall rights.

Employees who are laid off will retain recall rights for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the effective date of the layoff.

<u>Section 8.Stewards</u>. Preferential seniority shall be provided for the Union Stewards and the affected steward(s) shall be retained in employment so long as there is work he/they can perform. Preferential seniority does not refer to seniority within a classification but is clarified to mean that the steward's seniority will be deemed to be at least one (1) day more than any other employee in the lowest classification.

ARTICLE 14 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 1.Funeral Leave. An employee shall be granted time off with pay (not to be deducted from the employees sick leave) for the purpose of arranging the funeral of a member of the employee's immediate family as follows: seven (7) calendar days: spouse, domestic partner, children, stepchildren, parents, grandparents, brother, sister, parent-in-law; three (3) calendar days: grandparents-in-law, brother-in-law and sister-in-law. In all cases where more time is required, the employee shall make application in writing to the Service Director who shall advance sufficient vacation days, sick time or compensatory time to cover the emergency.

<u>Section 2. Military Leave</u>. Military Leave shall be granted and administered consistent with applicable law and City policy.

<u>Section 3.Education Leave</u>. An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for education purposes relating to the operations of the City.

<u>Section 4.Personal Leave</u>. At the discretion of the Mayor, a leave of absence, with or without pay, of up to thirty (30) days in any calendar year may be granted to an employee for any legitimate personal reason without loss of seniority.

<u>Section 5.Jury Duty</u>. An employee called for jury duty or subpoenaed as a witness shall be granted a leave of absence with pay for the period of jury or witness service, as provided herein:

- A. an employee must present verification of his or her call to jury duty or witness duty;
- B. if a witness, that his or her testimony was within the scope of his or her employment for the City and not of a personal nature; and
- C. turn in the amount received as a jury or witness fee to the City Treasurer in order to receive his or her regular pay for his or her time period.

<u>Section 6</u>. An employee who is required to appear in court for reasons outside the scope of his or her employment, other than jury duty, shall be granted vacation time or an excused absence (non-paid) provided that:

Documentation is provided in the form of a subpoena and the request for an excused absence (nonpaid) or vacation time is made to the appropriate supervisory person at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance.

ARTICLE 15 SICK LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

After an employee has exhausted his or her sick leave with pay, he or she may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed six (6) months because of personal illness, injury, or pregnancy (including post-partum recovery periods). The City may require the employee requesting such leave to produce reasonable medical evidence substantiating the basis for such leave. If the requested leave continues beyond six (6) months, the City may grant additional unpaid sick leave under this paragraph upon request. An employee on sick leave is expected to keep the City informed on the progress of his or her expected return and the anticipated date of return. Any employee who has been on sick leave beyond two (2) consecutive work days may be required to submit to and pass a physical examination before being permitted to return to work.

ARTICLE 16 SICK LEAVE WITH PAY

All regular full-time employees shall be credited with paid sick leave at the rate of 4.6 hours per bi-weekly pay period. Unused sick leave shall continue to accumulate without limitations. Sick leave shall be prorated where an employee is in unpaid status other than if he or she is receiving workers' compensation wage loss benefits or is on workers' compensation salary continuation.

An employee who has service time with another county, state, or municipal agency (public service agency) within the State of Ohio may be credited with the unused balance of his/her previously accumulated and unused sick leave, not to exceed a maximum of four hundred eighty (480) hours. The employee must be employed by the City within ten (10) years of separation from the other public agency, and must provide written verification from the other public agency of the previously earned and unused sick leave. The verification must indicate that the leave being reported does not include any sick leave for which the employee received any form of compensation. The verification must be provided to the City within sixty (60) calendar days of employment.

- A. Paid sick leave shall be granted only for pregnancy leave, actual sickness or injury, confinement by reason of a contagious condition, illness, or disease, or employee's serious illness or injury in the employee's immediate family.
- B. Paid sick leave will be credited, but cannot be used until the employee has satisfactorily completed his or her initial probationary period with the City.
- C. No paid sick leave shall be granted unless the division authority designated by the City is notified of the sickness no later than one (1) hour following the employee's scheduled starting time on the first day of the absence on account of sickness. Absences not reported as stated above may be excused by his or her employer if the appointing authority or his or

her designee determines that there were unusual circumstances which were beyond the employee's control. An employee is required to either call in on each day off or he or she may notify the City of the tentative length of his or her absence.

- D. A certificate from a licensed physician shall be required immediately upon returning to work for any sickness from an employee who has been so notified in writing that he or she has demonstrated a patterned abuse over the preceding months or after any illness requiring hospitalization. The certificate must include re-employment date, work capable of being performed, all restrictions. An employee shall be required to bring a doctor's certificate for any sickness beyond two (2) days. The validity of all medical excuses and physician's certificates are subject to review by a City physician. Any reviews or medical examinations by the City shall be done on City time.
- E. Upon the immediate retirement of a full-time employee who has not less than ten (10) years of continuous service with the Employer, and who has qualified for retirement benefits under the Public Employees Retirement System, such employee shall be entitled to receive a cash payment equal to his or her daily rate of pay at the time of retirement multiplied by one-half (1/2) the total number of accumulated but unused sick days earned by the employee as certified by the Finance Director. Effective October 1, 2010 upon the immediate retirement of a full-time employee who has not less than ten (10) years of continuous service with the Employer, and who has qualified for retirement benefits under the Public Employees Retirement System, such employee shall be entitled to receive a cash payment equal to his or her daily rate of pay at the time of retirement multiplied by .33 (thirty three percent -33%) of the total number of accumulated but unused sick days earned by the employee as certified by the Finance Director, not to exceed a maximum of nine hundred (900) hours of pay.
- F. Bi-weekly, the City will distribute to regular full-time employees an annual statement fully advising the employee of his or her paid sick leave status.
- G. An employee who is hurt on the job shall have the option of using his or her paid sick leave, workmen's compensation, sick leave without pay, or his or her vacation, whichever he or she prefers.
- H. An employee shall be granted paid sick leave for childbirth and/or disability arising out of that condition on the same basis as any other sick leave provided that the City may require the employees to furnish a physician's certificate as to when such leave shall commence and when the medical disability is ended.
- I. <u>Sick Leave Abutting Holidays</u>. Employees who call off on sick time the day before or the day after a holiday and who at the time of the call-off have fewer than forty (40) hours of accumulated sick leave in their banks must provide a doctor's written excuse. If there is not a written excuse, the employee will forfeit the holiday pay connected with the occurrence.

ARTICLE 17

UNIFORM ALLOWANCE

All regular full-time employees, unless otherwise herein specified, shall receive a uniform allowance in the amount of nine hundred dollars (\$900.00). Uniform allowances will be prorated in the year of retirement.

ARTICLE 18 HOURS OF WORK

Section 1. The normal work week for regular full-time employees shall consist of forty (40) hours of work in five (5) eight (8) hour work days, starting 12:00 midnight Monday to midnight Friday. Normal daily hours shall be determined by the City, subject to Section 4. Employees shall be allowed not less than forty-five (45) uninterrupted minutes for a scheduled lunch period.

<u>Section 2.Bidding</u>. The City shall allow the Service Department employees to bid on shifts annually.

Section 3. Recreation Department. The Recreation Department is a seven (7) day operation. The Recreation foreman's shift is at the discretion of the Recreation Commissioner. Shifts are posted once a year and picked by seniority. Shifts consist of the following: 1 – Open Shift, 2 – Middle Shift, and 3 – Close Shift.

<u>Section 4. Notice of Change in Shifts</u>. Excepting where notice is impracticable due to an emergency situation, effected employees shall be provided seven (7) days' notice of the City's intention to change an employee's shift.

ARTICLE 19 OVERTIME AND EQUALIZATION OF OVERTIME

Section 1. Authority of the City. The City shall be the sole judge of the necessity for overtime, to determine weekly and daily work schedules, and the number of shifts required. The City shall not change an employee's starting or quitting time for the purpose of avoiding overtime payments. Full-time employees shall be offered overtime before part-time and/or seasonal employees. Work on senior grass that does not exceed forty (40) hours is not defined as overtime for the purposes of this section even if performed outside normal work hours. If overtime has been offered and full-time employees do not accept the overtime, the City may use part-time employees to get the task accomplished.

A. <u>Recreation Center</u>. Overtime and holiday shifts are determined on a rotation basis starting with the most senior man. The Recreation Foreman is included in the rotation.

Section 2. <u>Daily Overtime</u>. Employees shall receive time and one-half (1 1/2) their regular rate of pay, or may elect to receive compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2), for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day.

Section 3. Weekly Overtime. Employees shall receive time and one-half (1 1/2) their regular rate of pay, or may elect to receive compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2), for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in any one week. Daily and weekly overtime shall be cumulative. Holiday pay shall be counted as eight (8) hours worked in computing eligibility for weekly overtime.

<u>Section 4.</u> Overtime Election. With reference to Section 3, employees who have earned overtime may credit such overtime to compensatory time off to be elected on a per pay period basis (each two [2] weeks of a pay cycle), choice of compensatory time or overtime pay.

Section 5. Equalization of Overtime. For the purposes of equalization of overtime, Service Department classifications and Recreation Department classifications are separate and non-inclusive. However, if and/or when it may be required of an employee assigned to the Recreation Department to work in the Service Department, such as a CDL certified driver during snow removal, the City reserves the right to do so, providing the employee in qualified for the work assignment.

<u>Section 6</u>. <u>Calculation of Overtime</u>. Employees refusing to work overtime will be charged overtime as if they had worked it. All overtime will be posted on a six (6) month basis.

Section 7. Report Pay. Employees reporting to work who have not been notified not to report shall be given two (2) hours work or receive at least two (2) hours pay, at time and one-half (1 1/2) his or her hourly rate of pay.

<u>Section 8.</u> <u>Emergency Services.</u> The parties specifically acknowledge that the work of unit members is critical to the maintenance of infrastructure and restoration of services to the public and there is the expectation that part of the job duties of members involves being available for such activities on an emergency basis. As such the parties have set forth this expectation and accompanying disciplinary schedule to address this issue as outlined herein:

A. <u>Availability</u>. The parties recognize that one of the core functions of unit members is to perform emergency services generally including work that is necessary to restore or maintain City services, operations, and systems (examples are snow and ice removal; snow and ice control; flood control or response to natural disaster).

Employees in the Service Department are expected to be available for emergency services, and shall provide valid and up-to-date phone numbers (including cell phones) for emergency contact. Employees are further expected to leave their phones on and respond to calls when it is reasonably expected that the need for emergency services may be imminent. Failure to both provide valid contact information or respond to or be available for an acceptable level of emergency call-outs will be grounds for progressive discipline for those who were placed on call. No discipline from failure to respond to emergency call-outs shall occur unless the City has been unable to staff the emergency adequately using the call-out list.

Employees who have provided an acceptable notice of unavailability, as determined by the General Foreman, or who are on an approved vacation or other approved leave, are not expected to respond

to an emergency call-out. Employees who are unavailable for emergency call-outs due to injury or illness are expected to call in and explain their unavailability and may be required to provide medical evidence to justify their unavailability. The parties agree that discipline in connection with failing to respond to calls for service outside of November 1 to April 1 will be subject to the general contractual just cause procedure. The disciplinary schedule continued in Section B will apply to emergency service call-out situations occurring between November 1 and April 1 of the following year.

B. <u>Discipline Schedule for Failure to Respond to Call-Out from November 1- April 1.</u> In recognizing the seriousness and significant impact that failing to respond to emergency call-out has upon City services and the safety and health of the public and that of other employees, the parties agree that the following disciplinary schedule shall cover those instances where members fail to respond to call-out situations:

1 st Incident of non-response:	Verbal Warning
2 nd Incident of non-response:	Verbal Warning
3rd Incident of non-response:	Written Warning
4th Incident of non-response:	1 day suspension
5th Incident of non-response:	Termination

C. Records of discipline issued under Section B shall cease to have force and effect or be considered in future disciplinary matters twelve (12) months after their effective date provided there are no intervening disciplinary actions of the same type (failure to respond to emergency call out) taken during that time period.

ARTICLE 20 CALL-IN PAY

If an employee is called in to work at a time when he or she is not scheduled to work, he or she will be compensated at one and one-half (1 1/2) times his or her regular rate of pay for hours worked, including shift premium, but in no event for less than three (3) hours. The three (3) hour minimum shall not apply where the hours worked immediately follow the normal work schedule but do not exceed three (3) hours.

ARTICLE 21 HEALTH COVERAGE & INSURANCE

<u>Section 1</u>. The City agrees to continue to make available to full-time bargaining unit employees a medical and hospitalization plan, including dental, vision and hearing coverage, that will provide the same or comparable coverage as the plan in effect upon execution of this agreement except as otherwise provided for in Section 3 of this article. The Employer reserves the right to select carriers/providers and/or to otherwise determine the manner by which any and all coverage is to be provided.

Section 2.

- A. Effective with the first pay period after the date this Contract is ratified by the City and the Union, the City shall pay 89% of the premium costs of hospitalization and medical service coverage and employees shall pay 11% of the premium costs. Effective with the first pay period after January 1, 2025, the City shall pay 88.5% of the premium costs of hospitalization and medical service coverage and employees shall pay 11.5% of the premium costs. Effective with the first pay period after January 1, 2026, the City shall pay 88% of the premium costs of hospitalization and medical service coverage and employees shall pay 12% of the premium costs.
- B. Should premium/contribution costs delineated under subsection (A) above increase during the term of this agreement, , the health care committee shall meet and act in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 below.

<u>Section 3.Health Care Committee.</u> Nothing herein shall preclude the Employer and the Union from mutually agreeing to additional or alternative cost containment provisions in order to secure more cost-effective coverage. Any such agreement shall be reduced to writing and signed by both parties, and such agreement shall not affect nor negate any remaining provisions of this article.

In the event that the Employer receives information that the costs for hospitalization and medical service coverage will increase for the next plan year, the Health Plan Review Committee (HPRC) will be notified.

The HPRC shall consist of one (1) bargaining unit representative elected or appointed by each of the recognized bargaining units (for purposes of this section, Dispatchers and Jailers shall be considered one bargaining unit), one non-bargaining unit representative, and five (5) management representatives designated by the Mayor. The City may elect to have fewer representatives attending, but in any case shall have an equal number of votes (i.e., five [5]). Additionally, each recognized Union may have one (1) observer/advisor. The Union observer/advisor may be the Union business agent/staff representative. The Employer may have up to four (4) observers/advisors.

At least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the beginning of a new health insurance plan year, the Employer will convene the HPRC for the purpose of making a valid recommendation to the Mayor for health insurance for the new plan year as set forth below. The Employer will seek a minimum of three (3) quotes for health insurance plans for the new plan year and will provide all quotes received to the HPRC members. The City will request quotes with the goal of providing them to HPRC members at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the beginning of a new health insurance plan year.

The HPRC committee shall, no later than fifteen calendar days prior to the beginning of a new health insurance plan year, and by majority vote, submit a valid recommendation from the following options to the Mayor:

to change the plan(s) and reduce the level of benefits so that the cost does not increase; or

- to change the plan(s) and reduce the benefit levels to minimize the cost increases to be passed onto the participating employees; or
- to maintain the then existing plan(s) and benefit levels and to pass on any excess costs to the participating employees (permanent option) pursuant to the premium payment provisions of Section 2 of this article.

The HPRC Committee representatives shall be vested with the authority to make recommendations on plan/coverage reductions or changes including recommending that the Employer offer multiple health insurance plans, subject to health insurance providers' agreement to offer multiple plans to the City, as well as a recommendation of any of the above options.

A recommendation of any one of the options listed above by majority vote of the HPRC shall be deemed a valid recommendation. Majority shall be defined as fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) of those HPRC members (representatives) present at the meeting; observers/advisors do not have voting authority. A timely and valid recommendation submitted by the HPRC will be implemented by the Employer. In the event the HPRC fails to make a timely or valid recommendation, the permanent option will be implemented by the Employer.

In addition to the recommendation function of the HPRC as set forth above, the HPRC shall also meet each calendar quarter at the request of any HPRC bargaining unit representative to review health plan information and utilization (as allowed by law). The HPRC shall have the opportunity to review health insurance information and proposals received by the Employer in accordance with any request for proposals (RFP), and to provide observations and input. Upon a timely request from HPRC members, the Employer will make its health insurance consultant available to assist HPRC members. The Employer will also, upon timely requests from HPRC members, request that health insurance provider representatives attend HPRC meetings to assist HPRC members.

<u>Section 4.Insurance</u>. The Employer will pay to the employee's family or designated beneficiary a death benefit in the amount of thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000.00), accidental death, and dismemberment in the amount of sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000.00).

ARTICLE 22 PAID HOLIDAYS

Section 1. Holidays. All regular full-time employees shall receive the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Day
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Juneteenth Day of Observance
Independence Day
Veterans Day

Labor Day Columbus Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Day President's Day Section 2. Personal Day. All employees shall, in addition to all other holidays, be granted two (2) personal leave days each year, one (1) to be credited in January and one (1) to be credited in June, which are to be taken within the year earned. Personal days may be used upon twenty-four (24) hour supervisor approval. If the use of the personal day(s) occurs unexpectedly, this requirement may be waived. In the event said personal day(s) are not taken within the year earned, said personal day(s) shall not qualify as compensatory time. Any personal hours not used during any year in which said personal hours were earned shall be paid out in cash in the last full pay period of each year. In the event employment is terminated for any reason whatsoever, all personal day(s) not previously used are forfeited.

<u>Section 3</u>. Employees who are required to work on a holiday or a day scheduled in lieu thereof shall receive double time (2x) in addition to the holiday for such time worked. The personal day is not a holiday for these purposes.

<u>Section 4</u>. A calendar will be established designating the exact dates of holidays to eliminate any possible confusion on dates of holiday pay.

ARTICLE 23 LONGEVITY

<u>Section 1</u>. All regular full-time employees shall receive longevity payments at the rate of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) for completion of every five (5) years of continuous service.

<u>Section 2</u>. Longevity is paid each year after reaching the first five (5) year threshold and longevity payments are to be made in a lump sum within the last pay of the employee's anniversary month.

ARTICLE 24 VACATION

<u>Section 1</u>. All regular full-time employees shall be granted the following vacation leave with full pay for each year based upon their length of full-time service with the City as of December 31 of the preceding year, as follows:

Vacation

Tears of Service	vacation
After one (1) year	Two (2) weeks (80 hours)
After five (5) years	Three (3) weeks (120 hours)
After ten (10) years	Four (4) weeks (160 hours)
After fifteen (15) years	Five (5) weeks (200 hours)
After Twenty-five (25) or more	Six (6) weeks (240 hours)*

Vears of Service

Any employee of the City who has accumulated and earned vacation hours from being employed by the State of Ohio or any other political subdivision of the State of Ohio shall not be allowed to transfer said hours to be used as vacation time. However, notwithstanding the limitations provided

^{*}This provision applies only to employees hired prior to December 31, 2002.

by Ohio Revised Code section 9.44(B)(1), employees shall have their prior public service with the State, the Employer or another political subdivision of the state counted for the purposes of vacation service credit. Thereafter, vacation service credit will be determined on the basis of full-time service with the City of Brooklyn, in accordance with this article.

Effective January 1, 2001, all vacation which will be qualified for on the employee's anniversary date of the new year shall be booked and available for employee use as of January 1st of each new year. Should employment be terminated prior to the employee's anniversary date, usual separation pay adjustment procedures shall be followed. Vacation shall be prorated for an employee's retirement or resignation, or where the employee is in unpaid status other than if he or she is receiving workers' compensation wage loss benefits or is on workers' compensation salary continuation.

<u>Section 2</u>. Vacation shall be taken during each current year. Provided however, that the City may permit an employee to carry over two (2) weeks' vacation leave to the following year upon written request and upon written approval of the Service Director. Vacations will be selected from March I through March 15 of each respective year.

<u>Section 3.Vacation Conversion</u>. An employee with twenty-five (25) years of service with the City may elect to turn up to one hundred twenty (120) hours of vacation into cash payment annually. In no case will this conversion give rise to a claim for overtime pay or affect the calculation of the overtime rate of pay.

ARTICLE 25 MILEAGE

All regular full-time employees authorized to use their car in the performance of their duties for the City shall be reimbursed only for such actual mileage at a rate of \$.04 per mile less than the IRS rate.

ARTICLE 26 DISCIPLINE

<u>Section 1</u>. Discipline is defined as any verbal or written warning, suspension (unpaid or working), discharge, or demotion for just cause. Where an employee has been involved in fighting or another threatening situation, he or she shall be immediately removed from the work site and placed on paid or unpaid administrative leave at the discretion of the City. If a steward is being disciplined, he or she has a right to be represented by a Union Officer.

Section 2. Discipline Timelines/Investigations. Except in cases where the Employer determines that an investigation is necessary to ascertain the facts related to a disciplinary situation, an employee shall be disciplined within ten (10) working days of the Employer having knowledge of the event on which the disciplinary action is based or within ten (10) working days of the conclusion of the predisciplinary conference where such is necessary. Both parties agree to act reasonably to extend timelines under this Article.

<u>Section 3</u>. <u>Predisciplinary Conference</u>. The Employer shall schedule a predisciplinary conference prior to an imposition of disciplinary action involving a suspension, demotion, or discharge. A predisciplinary conference shall not be necessary where the resulting discipline only rises to a verbal or written warning. An employee has the right to have his or her union steward or union officer present upon request at the predisciplinary conference.

<u>Section 4</u>. <u>Investigatory Interviews</u>. In the case of an investigatory interview, which may lead to disciplinary action, the employee has the right to have a Union Steward or officer present, upon request.

Section 5.Notice of Discipline/Appeals. The Union, and any employee who is suspended, demoted or discharged shall be given a written notice stating the reason for the disciplinary action within ten (10) days of the conference. The Union shall receive copies of all discipline notices given to the member. All suspensions shall be for a specific period of time. All verbal and written warnings may be reviewed through Step 3 of the grievance procedure. Any suspension, disciplinary reduction in rank or pay, or discharge may be appealed through the grievance procedure starting at Step 3 and may be reviewed through Step 4 of the grievance procedure. Any disciplinary action taken as a result of an employee's violation of the no-strike section shall not be appealable through the grievance procedure.

Section 6.Progressive Discipline. As a general rule, the employee shall be subject to a verbal warning, a written warning, suspension and then termination. However, an employee may be immediately terminated subject to the pre-disciplinary hearing for any of the following offenses, such as, but not limited to: consumption or possession of alcohol or drugs on the premises; reporting to work under the influence of same; gross insubordination; fighting; dishonesty or theft; participation in an unauthorized strike; engaging in the illegal or unlawful activities; all of which without construing the foregoing as limiting or any other similar act(s). The City will attempt to provide the Union with twenty-four (24) hours' notice before such action.

ARTICLE 27 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ARBITRATION

Section 1.Grievance. The term "grievance" shall mean an allegation by the Union, an employee or group of employees that there has been a breach, misinterpretation, or improper application of this Agreement. It is not intended that the grievance procedure be used to effect changes in the articles of this Agreement or any matters not covered by this Agreement. It is the specific intent of the parties that the Grievance Procedure set forth herein shall be the sole and exclusive method of appeal of any disciplinary action taken against a member of the bargaining unit.

It is acknowledged by the parties that this is a final and binding grievance procedure as defined in Ohio Revised Code, Section 4117.10, and that any appeals regarding specific provisions of this contract are to be resolved exclusively through this grievance procedure. This provision shall not be construed to limit an employee's statutory rights with regard to appeals of alleged discrimination under state/federal law.

"Work" or "working" day as used herein means calendar days excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and designated holidays.

Section 2. Grievance Procedure.

Step 1. An employee who has a grievance may take it up orally with his or her immediate supervisor, either alone or with his or her steward, within five (5) working days after the event(s) occur which give rise to the grievance. The supervisor will respond orally or in writing within three (3) working days after the grievance is presented to him.

Step 2. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at Step 1, it shall be reduced to writing with details and remedy requested and submitted to the Director of the Service Department on forms provided by the City within five (5) working days after receipt of the Step 1 answer. The Director will meet with the employee and with representatives of the Union within three (3) working days of the receipt of the grievance. The Director will provide a written response to the grievant and the Union within three (3) working days of the Step 2 meeting.

Step 3. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at Step 2, the employee may appeal in writing to the Mayor on forms provided by the City within seven (7) working days of the receipt of Step 2 answer. The Mayor, or his or her designee, shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) working days of the receipt of the appeal.

Step 4. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at Step 3, the Union may request that the grievance be submitted to arbitration within twenty (20) working days of Step 3 answer. Upon notice of request to arbitrate, the Union will simultaneously request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to submit a panel of eleven (11) arbitrators. Once FMCS submits the panel of arbitrators to the parties, each party shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from the mailing date in which to strike any name to which it objects, number the remaining names to indicate the order of preference and return the list to the FMCS. Each party may reject up to two (2) lists and request another list. The City and the Union will share fees and expenses of the arbitrator so selected equally; however, the Union shall be responsible for the cost of any list. Either party may reject the list of Arbitrators once. If the City rejects a list and requests another, the City will be responsible for the cost.

<u>Section 3.Attendance at Arbitration</u>. Any employee or City official requested to appear at the arbitration hearing by either party shall attend without the necessity of subpoena and without any loss of regular pay for time off the job while attending an arbitration proceeding. Any request made by either party for the attendance of witnesses shall be made in good faith, and at no time shall the number of employees in attendance exceed five (5) employees.

<u>Section 4.Policy Grievance</u>. Policy and/or group grievances may be initiated at Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure.

<u>Section 5.Authority of Arbitrator</u>. The arbitrator shall have jurisdiction only over disputes arising out of a grievance as to the interpretation and/or application of the provisions of this Contract.

The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to or subtract from or modify in any way the provisions of this Contract, or to make an award in conflict with law.

<u>Section 6.Binding Arbitration</u>. The grievance procedure set forth herein is the exclusive method of resolving disputes and all decisions of arbitrators or settlements of grievance reached prior to arbitration shall be final and binding on the City, the Union and the grievant; provided that the withdrawal of any grievance at any stage shall not be prejudicial to the position of the parties as they relate to that grievance or any future grievance.

<u>Section 7</u>. The General Foreman or his or her designee shall expedite grievances protesting unsafe working conditions with same day investigation. Provided that the employee has notified his or her supervisor of an alleged unsafe condition, the employee shall not be required to perform the work, but shall be assigned alternative duties without loss of pay.

ARTICLE 28 PERSONNEL RECORD

<u>Section 1</u>. An employee shall, upon request, be permitted to review his or her personnel record file, (divisional file and Personnel Department file), in the presence of proper supervision. For the purposes of this Contract only, copies of letters of reprimand and commendation, disciplinary actions, suspension, probationary reports, and employee ratings shall be made available to the employee at the time of issuance and/or upon request by the employee. Employees shall be entitled to copy all material contained within their personnel files upon reasonable advance request to the City.

Section 2. Disciplinary Records. Records of verbal and written reprimands shall cease to have force and effect or be considered in future disciplinary matters twelve (12) months after their effective date provided there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period. Records of suspensions shall cease to have force and effect or be considered in future disciplinary matters twenty-four (24) months after their effective date provided there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period.

ARTICLE 29 COMPENSATION

Section 1.

- A. Effective with and retroactive to the first full pay period in the calendar year 2024, all bargaining unit members hired prior to that date shall receive compensation according to the wage schedule attached as Appendix A.
- B. Wage Schedule Administration/Advanced Placement on Schedule. Any employee hired before January 1, 2016, with four (4) years of service or more shall remain at the top rate for the applicable job classification, or if not there yet, shall continue to proceed through the old wage schedule/step system (with agreed upon general wage increases being

applied) until said employee reaches the maximum rate of the new schedule, notwithstanding the associated years of service under the new schedule. At the discretion of the Employer, a newly or recently hired employee may be placed at or elevated to a wage step commensurate with such employee's prior certifiable experience, special skills, and/or licensure qualifications. The step placement and/or advancement shall be made at the sole and exclusive discretion of the Employer and is not subject to the grievance procedure or any other avenue of appeal. The parties agree that movement within the step system is only effective to the extent that the parties' agreement is in effect, and that movement between steps shall not occur in any future negotiations after the expiration of the parties' agreement until such time as a new agreement.

Promoted employees will advance to the step for the higher classification that grants them an increase, and, if they have more than four (4) years' service with the City, will advance to the top step after completion of six (6) months of service in the higher classification

Section 2.Shift Differential. Effective January 1, 2006, employees assigned to second shift shall be paid a shift differential premium of twenty five cents (.25) above the employee's regular rate of pay (as compared to the first shift). Employees assigned to third shift shall be paid a shift differential premium of fifty cents (.50) above the employee's regular rate of pay (as compared to the first shift). Shift differential shall not be considered a part of the basic wage scale for any purpose and shall not figure into payment of overtime, holidays, personal days, vacation or sick leave.

<u>Section 3.Bombardier Operator.</u> Employees assigned to operate a Bombardier track plow shall receive an additional fifty cents (.50) per hour over and above the employee's regular rate of pay. This rate shall be paid only while the employee is operating the Bombardier units.

Section 4.Compensatory Time. Compensatory time may be banked to a maximum of two hundred (200) hours and will be earned and used at the same rate as other overtime. Compensatory time can be used with the permission of Management with one (1) day prior notice. A maximum of two hundred (200) hours of compensatory time can be carried over into the next calendar year. When an employee earns over two hundred (200) hours of compensatory time, all other overtime shall be paid to the employee in cash. Effective upon the execution of this agreement, in order to reduce compensatory time banks to the maximum set forth in this Section 4, the parties agree that employees with more than two hundred (200) hours shall be able to carry forward and use such excess compensatory time until December 31, 2026. Said employees shall receive pay for overtime worked until their respective banks are less than the two hundred (200) hour maximum. Once their respective banks are reduced below two hundred (200) hours, they shall then be capped at the maximum set forth in this Section 4.

<u>Section 5.Working in a Higher Classification</u>. An employee performing work in higher classifications for two (2) hours or more will be paid at the higher rate for all regular and overtime hours worked in that classification. An employee doing work in a lower classification will be paid at the rate of his or her regular classification. If an employee is working in a bargaining unit position in an acting status for a period of six months, then the City shall bid the position, absent exigent circumstances.

<u>Section 6</u>. The City shall pay drivers wages when an employee drives trucks with air brakes or a street sweeper. The City will pay skilled labor premium pay for concrete, carpentry, plumbing, electrical, sign shop work and painting.

Concrete, carpentry, plumbing and electrical work qualifying for the skilled labor premium will be in accordance with the past practice of determining what qualifies as skilled labor. Painting work will be considered skilled labor if it involves: preparing interior or exterior structural surfaces for painting (chipping, scraping, sanding, taping); painting structural interior or exterior surfaces that requires trim and/or detailed cutting in; removing and installing wallpaper; street stripping; and ice painting. Other types of painting may qualify as skilled labor at the discretion of the Service Director. The Service Director shall not unreasonably withhold his or her approval of painting work which may qualify as skilled labor.

<u>Section 7.</u> Employees assigned to operate the automated packer truck will receive an additional twenty-five cents (\$.25) per hour over and above the employee's regular rate of pay for each hour in a week where the employee operates said machinery. When employees operate said machinery for at least 24 hours of the week, they will receive this additional pay for all hours worked in the week.

<u>Section 8.Special Licenses</u>. Employees who maintain the below listed licenses or certifications shall receive additional annual merit pay, in equal installments in each pay, upon receipt of the following licenses and certifications issued by the state or other City-approved licensing or certifying entity:

License	Stipend
American Concrete Institute (Concrete Flatwork Associate,	
Finisher, and Advanced Finisher only)	\$ 150.00
ASE Certifications (Fleet)	\$ 150.00 each
ISA Certified Arborist	\$ 500.00
OSHA Skid Steer/Loader Operations Certification	\$ 50.00
OSHA Forklift Certification	\$ 50.00
Tree Risk Assessment Qualified (TRAQ)	\$ 200.00
Pool Operator Certification	\$ 150.00
Commercial Herbicide Applicator License	\$ 150.00
Emergency Vehicle Technician Certifications (Fire Apparatus	
and Ambulance only)	\$ 200.00 each
Master Plumber License	\$ 300.00
CDL Class A	\$ 500.00
CDL Class B	\$ 300.00

Employees who wish to obtain the above-listed licenses and certifications must do so at their expense and on their time, except that (1) the City will reimburse employees for the cost of any application and exam upon proof, provided by the Employee, of the Employee's passage of such exam; (2) the City will pay the required fees for the purposes of testing and maintaining any such licenses or certifications that are required for the employee's current position; and (3) the City may

choose in its discretion to enable Employees, on a case-by-case basis, to undertake any testing while working.

The City may limit the number of employees eligible for the above certifications and licenses based on job duties and operational need. If the City limits eligibility after an employee has paid for an application or an exam but before the employee receives his or her certification or licensure, the City will reimburse the employee for such application or exam fee. For as long as a certification or license remains effective, the relevant above-listed merit pay shall be paid annually.

Employees seeking compensation under this Section 8 are required to provide records to the Service Director and Finance Department demonstrating their current licensure or certification.

ARTICLE 30 JOB BIDDING

The City shall post a notice for a permanent job in places where such notices are normally posted for no more than five (5) working days. Upon completion of said posting period, the City will consider all employees who filed for the posted job. Employees shall only be permitted to bid on a position which pays greater compensation (more dollars per hour). Job bidding will only be applicable to situations that are a promotion for 860 Members. A promotion is defined as an advancement to a classification whose top of pay band is higher than his or her former title, accompanied by increased duties and/or responsibilities. The City shall award the vacancy to the most qualified applicant within the bargaining unit. Only when the qualifications of two (2) or more applicants are equal will the position be awarded on the basis of seniority. All determinations regarding qualifications remain within the sole discretion of the City. The Employer shall consider the following factors to determine the qualifications of applicants:

A. Seniority;

- B. Past performance, work-related experience, demonstrated abilities and previous temporary transfer:
- C. Work-related experience with another employer (where such information is provided by the employee);
- D. Aptitude;
- E. Education/training;
- F. Prior discipline imposed during the two (2) year period immediately preceding the date of the bid notice;
- G. Lack of interest and failure to follow through;
- H. Opinion of supervisors, judgment of applicant's knowledge, skills and ability;

- I. Past attendance record (if the employee applicant has been suspended for attendance-related misconduct during the six month period immediately preceding the date of the bid notice or for violation of the City's Absence Without Leave Policy during the twelve (12) month period immediately preceding the date of the bid notice; and
- J. Any special requirements reasonably related to the bid position.

ARTICLE 31 PRODUCTIVE WORK BY NON-BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES

<u>Section 1</u>. Non-bargaining unit employees shall not perform bargaining unit work, which causes layoff, demotion, downgrading of an employee in the bargaining unit; the reduction of the present workforce; the avoidance of overtime payment or curtailment below the normal scheduled forty (40) hour workweek; or to prevent the return to work of an available, competent bargaining unit employee for the duration of the Contract.

Section 2. It is understood and agreed by the Union that the Employer may assign supervisors to perform bargaining unit work for instructional purposes, or in genuine emergencies only after all available qualified bargaining unit employees refuse such emergency overtime work, as the Employer maintains the right to abate or eliminate a true emergency situation when liability is an issue and the safety and well-being of the citizens are primary and foremost considerations. For the purpose of this paragraph, an emergency is defined as any impairment to the City services or operations which cannot be delayed until the beginning of the next regular work day.

<u>Section 3.</u> The City shall not permit part-time employees, seasonal help or persons working community hours to perform tasks that involve the use of a CDL or heavy equipment (Truck Loader, Compactor, Back Hoe and Front End Loader).

ARTICLE 32 SAFETY COMMITTEE; SAFETY AND HEALTH

<u>Section 1</u>. A Safety Committee is hereby established with five (5) members; two (2) employees from the Service Department, one (l) employee from the Recreation Department, and two (2) employees appointed by the Mayor. The Safety Committee shall meet once in each calendar quarter to review the safety status of City equipment and write up any safety defects that appear to need repair. Another of the functions of the Safety Committee will be to encourage employees to engage in safe conduct in their daily operation and to be safety conscious.

<u>Section 2</u>. Each employee shall be required to write up any complaints about equipment with which such employee works and provide a copy to his or her immediate supervisor and a copy to a Union member of the Safety Committee. Failure to notify of any safety defects may be cause for disciplinary action.

Section 3. Safety Guidelines.

- A. The Employer shall assign a two (2) man crew (minimum) when lifting is involved or when power tools (to include chain saw and sewer vacuum) are to be used by an employee. This policy is to be reviewed in six-month intervals.
- B. A minimum of two (2) employees shall be called in for salting and snow removal, also loader on call during snow season.

Section 4. General Safety and Health. The City and the Union will cooperate in the elimination of accidents and health hazards. The City shall continue to make reasonable provisions for the safety and health of its employees. A safe environment and efficient work operation are of mutual concern to the City and Union. The parties mutually recognize the need for a work environment where all phases of work can be achieved safely, a better understanding and acceptance of safety principles is promoted, and the safety of employees and the general public is increased. All employees shall comply with work rules, regulations, and procedures concerning safety and health. Personal protective equipment provided by the City for the protection of employees (including PPE conforming with basic biosafety and biosecurity practices for the removal of dead animals, but not including safety gloves, boots and vests) shall continue to be provided by the City. Grievances based upon this Section 4 shall be expedited through the grievance process pursuant to Article 27, Section 7.

<u>Section 5. CPR Training.</u> The Employer will make periodic American Red Cross CPR training and certification available to employees consistent with the training offered to public safety personnel at no cost to the employees.

ARTICLE 33 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

<u>Section 1</u>. There is hereby created a labor-management committee, which shall consist of the Service Director, at least one other member of management representing the Employer, and the Union Steward and Union Agent, representing the Union. The Employer may authorize additional Union members to attend labor management meetings.

<u>Section 2</u>. The City and the Union shall generally attempt to meet on a quarterly basis. Meetings will be normally scheduled in March, June, September and December; however, the parties may agree to cancel regular meetings and/or schedule special meetings as needed.

<u>Section 3</u>. An agenda shall be furnished and/or exchanged at least five (5) calendar days in advance of the scheduled meeting with a list of the matters to be taken up in the meeting. The parties shall also supply the names of those representatives who will be attending. The purpose of such meetings shall be to:

- A. Notify the Union of changes made by the Employer which affect bargaining unit members;
- B. Disseminate general information of interest to the parties:
- Discuss ways to increase productivity and improve efficiency;

- D. Give the Union representatives the opportunity to share the views of their members; and
- E. To consider and discuss health and safety matters relating to employees.

<u>Section 4.</u> If special labor/management meetings have been requested and mutually agreed upon, they shall be convened as soon as feasible.

Section 5. Labor/management meetings are not generally intended to be negotiation session(s) to alter or amend the basic agreement. Nothing in this article shall prevent the parties from informally resolving matters of immediate concern. Subjects of immediate concern to the Union, which are not the proper subject of a grievance as defined herein, shall be brought to the attention of the Service Director/designee. Subjects of immediate concern to the Employer shall be brought to the attention of the Union local president.

ARTICLE 34 MISCELLANEOUS

<u>Section 1.Copies of Contract.</u> The City shall provide copies of the collective bargaining agreement at no cost to the Union, to all members of the bargaining unit, and to all new employees upon hire and completion of their probationary period.

<u>Section 2.Tool Allowance</u>. All mechanics and the welder/carpenter in the skilled classification shall receive a tool allowance as follows: (in a separate check): \$300.00.

Recreation Center Personnel will receive an annual tool allowance of \$200.00.

Section 3. Equal Rate of Pay. Garage mechanics and skilled laborers will receive an equal pay rate.

<u>Section 4.Physical Limitation</u>. Management reserves the right to assign any employee to a specified assignment based upon their physical limitations and whether or not the employee can perform his/her original job.

<u>Section 5.Obligation to Obtain and Maintain a CDL License</u>. New employees have six (6) months to obtain a CDL license. The city will provide practice time and a vehicle in order for employees to obtain a CDL license. Employees hired after January 1, 2014 who fail to maintain a valid CDL license will be terminated.

All Local 860 employees hired before January 1, 2014, with the exception of the Custodian and the Aquatics Coordinator, will obtain and maintain a CDL. If a current employee fails to obtain a CDL or has a CDL and/or driver's license revoked, that employee will maintain employment in his or her present classification but will be reduced in wage by ten percent (10%) of their wage rate. If the employee subsequently obtains a CDL, the member will be returned to the previous applicable wage. No employee will have action taken to lessen wages due solely to medical disqualification.

<u>Section 6.Privatization</u>. The City will give ninety (90) days' notice to Local 860 in the event it decides to privatize rubbish collection. It will meet and allow the Union to prepare a bid for consideration.

Section 7. Job Training Program. If a job opening occurs in the classification of operator, the City will institute a program whereby personnel will be trained on their own time; however, the trainee will be considered as on "company time" with respect to workers' compensation eligibility and the trainer will be paid at an overtime rate of pay assuming he/she is working overtime. In the occasional situation where the trainer is working his or her regular hours, and the trainee is shadowing him/her, the trainer will receive his or her standard hourly rate.

<u>Section 8.</u> <u>Recreation Center Use</u>. Bargaining unit members shall be able to use the Brooklyn recreation facilities in the following manner:

- Bargaining unit members are to show their recreation issued recreation pass;
- Bargaining unit members may have one guest enter with them at no cost to use the natatorium facilities, workout rooms, and public skating;
- Bargaining unit members shall not have the above-mentioned privileges available during special scheduled events at the Recreation Center;
- Bargaining unit members shall not receive special treatment or be given reservation times over other patrons.

<u>Section 9.</u> Road Obstruction Policies. The City shall adopt policies as are necessary in order to alert Service Department foremen of unremoved road obstructions as soon as practicable.

ARTICLE 35 INJURY LEAVE - ON DUTY INJURY

Section 1. An employee who is unable to perform his or her regular duties; due to an injury/illness that is the direct result of an accident/incident on the job, within the scope of his or her employment as a full-time employee of the city, shall be paid his or her regular compensation during the continuance of such service related injury/illness but for a period not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days from the date that such service related injury/illness was incurred. During such injury leave, compensation shall be paid in accordance with this section, whether or not the regular employee has accumulated sick leave. The first seven (7) days of such leave shall be charged against an employee's accumulated sick leave.

Injury leave shall also be charged against Family and Medical Leave to the extent permissible under federal law.

<u>Section 2</u>. If at the end of this ninety (90) days period the employee is still incapable of performing the essential functions of his/her job, the leave may, at the Employer's sole discretion, be extended for an additional ninety (90) day period.

<u>Section 3</u>. An employee who obtains a paid leave under this article may be required as determined appropriate by the Mayor/designee to file for Workers' Compensation and sign a waiver assigning to the City those sums of monies (temporary total disability benefits) he or she would actually receive as his or her weekly compensation as determined by law and for those number of weeks he or she receives benefits under this article. The Employer has the discretion to pay the employee on a wage continuation basis under the Worker's Compensation system, thereby requiring the employee to file for Worker's Compensation medical benefits only. These provisions will not be applied inequitably.

<u>Section 4</u>. An employee shall not be gainfully employed by another employer, or perform another job duty for the City of Brooklyn, while receiving benefits under this article and/or while receiving any type of benefits whatsoever from the City, while not working the normal amount of hours and/or performing the normal job duties without the prior consent of the Service Director. Violation of this provision may be grounds for discipline and dismissal.

Section 5. Certification of the attending physician or surgeon certifying to the service related disability and the cause thereof shall be filed with the Service Director before the last day of each two (2) week period in which disability occurred or continues, or more often, if requested to do so by the Service Director. The Employer shall have the right to require employees to have a physical exam by a physician appointed and paid by the Employer resulting in the physician's certification that the employee is unable to work due to the injury/illness as a condition precedent to the employee receiving any benefits under this article. The designated physician's opinion shall govern whether the employee is actually incapable of performing the essential functions of his/her job or not, but shall not govern whether the Employer shall grant or extend the period of leave.

<u>Section 6</u>. In the event that any employee is dissatisfied with the determination of the Service Director based on the medical examination, the employee may submit the question to the grievance procedure at Step 3.

ARTICLE 36 RULES AND REGULATIONS

<u>Section 1</u>. The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to establish reasonable work rules, regulations, policies and procedures.

This agreement represents the entire agreement between the Employer and the Union, and unless specifically set forth in the express written provisions of this agreement, all rules, regulations, policies and procedures previously and presently in effect may be modified or discontinued at the sole discretion of the Employer.

Section 2. Except in exigent circumstances involving employee or public health, safety and welfare, should the Employer desire to change any work rule, regulation, or policy/procedure, it

shall notify the Union a minimum of five (5) days prior to any action. Upon the request of the Union after receiving such notice, the Employer shall meet with the Union to discuss any proposed changes. In exigent circumstances, the Employer shall notify the Union with as much notice of a change as is practicable.

ARTICLE 37 SAVINGS CLAUSE

In the event anyone or more provisions of this Agreement is or are deemed invalid or unenforceable by any final decision of a court or governmental agency, that portion shall be deemed severable from the rest of the Agreement and all such other parts of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In any such event, the Employer and the Union will, at the request of either party hereto, promptly enter into negotiations relative to the particular provisions deemed invalid or unenforceable.

ARTICLE 38 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement represents the complete Agreement on all matters subject to bargaining between the Employer and the Union and except as otherwise noted herein shall become effective upon ratification by both parties and shall remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2026. If either party desires to make any changes in this Agreement for a period subsequent to December 31, 2026, notice of such a desire shall be given no earlier than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days nor later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date. If no notice seeking modification is given, then the Agreement shall remain in effect for another year although notice may be given in the subsequent year during the time period no earlier than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days nor later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date.

EXECUTION

FOR THE CITY OF BROOKLYN	FOR THE LABORERS' LOCAL 860
TOUSE	alle duter
Approved as to legal form;	

APPENDIX A WAGE SCHEDULE

(See attached schedules for 2024, 2025 and 2026)

Effective with first full pay period following 1/1/2024 (2%)

Service Garage								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$35.51	\$36.61	
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$25.74	\$27.10	\$28.79	\$30.49	\$31.84	\$32.86	\$33.87	
Clerk	\$25.74	\$27.10	\$28.79	\$30.49	\$31.84	\$32.86	\$33,87	
Mechanic	\$25.74	\$27.10	\$28.79	\$30.49	\$31.84	\$32.86	\$33.87	
Driver	\$24.79	\$26.10	\$27.73	\$29.36	\$30.66	\$31.64	\$32.62	
Laborer	\$23.87	\$25.12	\$26.69	\$28.27	\$29.52	\$30.46	\$31.41	
Recycling	\$16.90	\$17.79	\$18.90	\$20.01	\$20.90	\$21.57	\$22.24	
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$24.85	\$26.15	\$27.79	\$29.42	\$30.73	\$31.71	\$32.69	
Ice Rink								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$35.51	\$36.61	
Assistant Rink Manager	\$27.82	\$29.29	\$31.12	\$32.95	\$34.41	\$35.51	\$36.61	
Aquatics Coordinator	\$18.47	\$19.45	\$20.66	\$21.88	\$22.85	\$23.58	\$24.31	
Maintenance	\$24.15	\$25.42	\$27.01	\$28.60	\$29.87	\$30.82	\$31.77	
Custodian	\$16.64	\$17.51	\$18.61	\$19.70	\$20.58	\$21.23	\$21.89	
Laborer- No CDL	\$21.49	\$22.62	\$24.03	\$25.45	\$26.58	\$27.43	\$28.27	

Effective with first full pay period following 7/1/2024 (2%)

Service Garage								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$36.22	\$37.34	
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$26.26	\$27.64	\$29.37	\$31.10	\$32.48	\$33.52	\$34.55	
Clerk	\$26.26	\$27.64	\$29.37	\$31.10	\$32.48	\$33.52	\$34.55	
Mechanic	\$26.26	\$27.64	\$29.37	\$31.10	\$32.48	\$33.52	\$34.55	
Dríver	\$25.29	\$26.62	\$28.28	\$29.94	\$31.28	\$32.27	\$33.27	
Laborer	\$24.35	\$25.63	\$27.23	\$28.83	\$30.11	\$31.07	\$32.03	
Recycling	\$17.24	\$18.14	\$19.28	\$20.41	\$21.32	\$22.00	\$22.68	
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$25.34	\$26,68	\$28.34	\$30.01	\$31.34	\$32.34	\$33,34	
Ice Rink								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$36.22	\$37.34	
Assistant Rink Manager	\$28.38	\$29.87	\$31.74	\$33.61	\$35.10	\$36.22	\$37.34	
Aquatics Coordinator	\$18.84	\$19.83	\$21.07	\$22.31	\$23.31	\$24.05	\$24.79	
Maintenance	\$24.63	\$25.93	\$27.55	\$29.17	\$30.46	\$31.44	\$32.41	
Custodian	\$16.97	\$17.86	\$18.98	\$20.09	\$20.99	\$21.66	\$22.33	
Laborer- No CDL	\$21.92	\$23.07	\$24.51	\$25.96	\$27.11	\$27.97	\$28.84	

Effective with first full pay period following 1/1/2025 (2%)

Service Garage								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$36.94	\$38.09	
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$26.78	\$28.19	\$29.96	\$31.72	\$33.13	\$34.19	\$35.24	
Clerk	\$26.78	\$28.19	\$29.96	\$31.72	\$33.13	\$34.19	\$35.24	
Mechanic	\$26.78	\$28.19	\$29.96	\$31.72	\$33.13	\$34.19	\$35.24	
Driver	\$25.79	\$27.15	\$28.85	\$30.54	\$31.90	\$32.92	\$33.94	
Laborer	\$24.83	\$26.14	\$27.77	\$29.41	\$30.71	\$31.69	\$32.67	
Recycling	\$17.58	\$18.51	\$19.66	\$20.82	\$21.75	\$22.44	\$23.13	
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$25.85	\$27.21	\$28.91	\$30.61	\$31.97	\$32.99	\$34.01	
Ice Rink								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$36.94	\$38.09	
Assistant Rink Manager	\$28.95	\$30.47	\$32.37	\$34.28	\$35.80	\$36.94	\$38.09	
Aquatics Coordinator	\$19.22	\$20.23	\$21.50	\$22.76	\$23.77	\$24.53	\$25.29	
Maintenance	\$25.12	\$26.45	\$28.10	\$29.75	\$31.07	\$32.06	\$33.06	
Custodian	\$17.31	\$18.22	\$19.36	\$20.50	\$21.41	\$22.09	\$22.77	
Laborer- No CDL	\$22.36	\$23.53	\$25.00	\$26.48	\$27.65	\$28.53	\$29.42	

Effective with first full pay period following 7/1/2025 (2.5%)

Service Garage								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$37.87	\$39.04	
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$27.45	\$28.90	\$30.71	\$32.51	\$33.96	\$35.04	\$36.12	
Clerk	\$27.45	\$28.90	\$30.71	\$32.51	\$33.96	\$35.04	\$36.12	
Mechanic	\$27.45	\$28.90	\$30.71	\$32.51	\$33.96	\$35.04	\$36.12	
Driver	\$26.44	\$27.83	\$29.57	\$31.31	\$32.70	\$33.74	\$34.79	
Laborer	\$25.45	\$26.79	\$28.47	\$30.14	\$31.48	\$32.49	\$33.49	
Recycling	\$18.02	\$18.97	\$20.16	\$21.34	\$22.29	\$23.00	\$23.71	
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$26.50	\$27.89	\$29.63	\$31.38	\$32.77	\$33.82	\$34.86	
Ice Rink								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$37.87	\$39.04	
Assistant Rink Manager	\$29.67	\$31.23	\$33.18	\$35.14	\$36.70	\$37.87	\$39.04	
Aquatics Coordinator	\$19.70	\$20.74	\$22.03	\$23,33	\$24.37	\$25.14	\$25.92	
Maintenance	\$25.75	\$27.11	\$28.80	\$30.49	\$31.85	\$32.87	\$33.88	
Custodian	\$17.74	\$18.67	\$19.84	\$21.01	\$21.94	\$22.64	\$23.34	
Laborer- No CDL	\$22.92	\$24.12	\$25.63	\$27.14	\$28.34	\$29.25	\$30.15	

Effective with first full pay period following 1/1/2026 (2%)

Service Garage								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$38.63	\$39.82	
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$28.00	\$29.48	\$31,32	\$33.16	\$34.64	\$35.74	\$36.85	
Clerk	\$28.00	\$29.48	\$31.32	\$33.16	\$34.64	\$35.74	\$36.85	
Mechanic	\$28.00	\$29.48	\$31.32	\$33.16	\$34.64	\$35.74	\$36.85	
Driver	\$26.97	\$28.39	\$30.16	\$31.93	\$33.35	\$34.42	\$35.48	
Laborer	\$25.96	\$27.33	\$29.04	\$30.75	\$32.11	\$33.14	\$34.16	
Recycling	\$18.38	\$19.35	\$20.56	\$21.77	\$22.74	\$23.46	\$24.19	
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$27.03	\$28.45	\$30.23	\$32.00	\$33.43	\$34.49	\$35.56	
Ice Rink								
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$38.63	\$39.82	
Assistant Rink Manager	\$30.26	\$31.86	\$33.85	\$35.84	\$37.43	\$38.63	\$39.82	
Aquatics Coordinator	\$20.09	\$21.15	\$22.47	\$23.80	\$24.85	\$25.65	\$26.44	
Maintenance	\$26.27	\$27.65	\$29.38	\$31.10	\$32.49	\$33.52	\$34.56	
Custodian	\$18.10	\$19.05	\$20.24	\$21.43	\$22.38	\$23.10	\$23.81	
Laborer- No CDL	\$23.37	\$24.60	\$26.14	\$27.68	\$28.91	\$29.83	\$30.76	

Effective with first full pay period following 7/1/2026 (2.5%)

Service Garage							
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$39.59	\$40.82
Equipment Operator Skilled Laborer/Recycle	\$28.70	\$30.21	\$32.10	\$33.99	\$35.50	\$36.63	\$37.77
Clerk	\$28.70	\$30.21	\$32.10	\$33.99	\$35.50	\$36.63	\$37.77
Mechanic	\$28.70	\$30.21	\$32.10	\$33.99	\$35.50	\$36.63	\$37.77
Driver	\$27.64	\$29.09	\$30.91	\$32.73	\$34.19	\$35.28	\$36.37
Laborer	\$26.61	\$28.01	\$29.76	\$31.51	\$32.91	\$33.96	\$35.02
Recycling	\$18.84	\$19.83	\$21.07	\$22.31	\$23.30	\$24.05	\$24.79
Night Shift Lead Man Lead Man Additional \$1.00 Per Hour (2003)	\$27.70	\$29.16	\$30.98	\$32.80	\$34.26	\$35.35	\$36.45
Ice Rink							
Foreman	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$39.59	\$40.82
Assistant Rink Manager	\$31.02	\$32.65	\$34.69	\$36.73	\$38.37	\$39.59	\$40.82
Aquatics Coordinator	\$20.60	\$21.68	\$23.04	\$24.39	\$25.47	\$26.29	\$27.10
Maintenance	\$26.92	\$28.34	\$30.11	\$31.88	\$33.30	\$34.36	\$35.42
Custodian	\$18.55	\$19.52	\$20.74	\$21.96	\$22.94	\$23.67	\$24.40
Laborer- No CDL	\$23.96	\$25.22	\$26.80	\$28.37	\$29.63	\$30.58	\$31.52

APPENDIX B SIDE AGREEMENT

(See attached)

SIDE LETTER

LABORERS' LOCAL 860 a/w LABORERS' INTERNATIONAL UNION OF NORTH AMERICA AND BROOKLYN, OHIO

The above referenced "Parties" mutually agree to the following as it relates to the classification of Laborer/Senior Bus Driver:

- The Parties agree that as soon as practicable, Local 860 will undertake good faith efforts to assist
 the City of Brooklyn in amending the certification of the bargaining unit to remove the
 classification of Laborer/Senior Bus Driver through a joint petition to SERB, such that the parties'
 future collective bargaining agreements will reflect the same.
- The Parties agree that any disagreements pertaining to the language of this MOU, or the application thereof, shall be subject to binding Arbitration through Step 4 of the Parties Grievance Procedure.